ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

RECEIVED: October 17, 2024 REVISED: March 7, 2025 ACCEPTED: March 31, 2025 PUBLISHED: May 22, 2025

The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Large-scale velocity reconstruction with the kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect and DESI LRGs

Fiona McCarthy, 1,2,3 Nicholas Battaglia, 4 Rachel Bean, 4 J. Richard Bond, 5 Hongbo Cai, 6,7 Erminia Calabrese, 8 William R. Coulton, 1,2 Mark J. Devlin, 9 Jo Dunkley, 10,11 Simone Ferraro, 12,13 Vera Gluscevic, 14 Yilun Guan, 15 J. Colin Hill, 16 Matthew C. Johnson, 17,18 Aleksandra Kusiak, 16 Alex Laguë, 9 Niall MacCrann, 1,2 Mathew S. Madhavacheril, 9 Kavilan Moodley, 19,20 Sigurd Naess, 21 Frank J. Qu, 1,2,22 Bernardita Ried Guachalla, 23,22,24 Neelima Sehgal, 25 Blake D. Sherwin, 1,2 Cristóbal Sifón, 26 Kendrick M. Smith, 17 Suzanne T. Staggs, 10 Alexander van Engelen, 27 Eve M. Vavagiakis^{28,4} and Edward J. Wollack, 29

- ¹DAMTP, Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge CB3 0WA, U.K.
- ²Kavli Institute for Cosmology Cambridge, Madingley Road, Cambridge, CB3 0HA, U.K.
- ³Center for Computational Astrophysics, Flatiron Institute,
- 162 5th Avenue, New York, NY 10010, U.S.A.
- ⁴Department of Astronomy, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14850, U.S.A.
- ⁵Canadian Institute for Theoretical Astrophysics, University of Toronto,
- 60 St. George Street, Toronto, ON, M5S 3H8, Canada
- ⁶Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, U.S.A.
- ⁷Department of Astronomy, School of Physics and Astronomy, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, 200240, China
- ⁸School of Physics and Astronomy, Cardiff University,
- The Parade, Cardiff, Wales CF24 3AA, U.K.
- ⁹Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Pennsylvania, 209 South 33rd Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, U.S.A.
- ¹⁰ Joseph Henry Laboratories of Physics, Jadwin Hall, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A.
- ¹¹Department of Astrophysical Sciences, Peyton Hall, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A.
- ¹²Physics Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, U.S.A.
- ¹³Berkeley Center for Cosmological Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ¹⁴Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA 90007, U.S.A.

© 2025 The Author(s). Published by IOP Publishing Ltd on behalf of Sissa Medialab. Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2025/05/057

 ¹⁵Dunlap Institute for Astronomy & Astrophysics, University of Toronto, 50 St. George St., Toronto ON M5S 3H4, Canada

- ¹⁶Department of Physics, Columbia University, New York, NY 10027, U.S.A.
- ¹⁷Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics,
- 31 Caroline St N, Waterloo, ON N2L 2Y5, Canada
- ¹⁸Department of Physics and Astronomy, York University, Toronto, ON M3J 1P3, Canada
- ¹⁹Astrophysics Research Centre, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Westville Campus, Durban 4041, South Africa
- ²⁰School of Mathematics, Statistics & Computer Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Westville Campus, Durban 4041, South Africa
- ²¹Institute for theoretical astrophysics, University of Oslo, Norway
- ²²Kavli Institute for Particle Astrophysics and Cosmology,
 382 Via Pueblo Mall Stanford, CA 94305-4060, U.S.A.
- ²³Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305-4085, U.S.A.
- ²⁴SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory,
- 2575 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, California 94025, U.S.A.
- ²⁵Physics and Astronomy Department, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794, U.S.A.
- ²⁶Instituto de Física, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso,
- Casilla 4059, Valparaíso, Chile
- ²⁷School of Earth and Space Exploration, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ 85287, U.S.A.
- ²⁸Department of Physics, Duke University, Durham, NC 27710, U.S.A.
- ²⁹NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD 20771, U.S.A.

E-mail: fmm43@cam.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: The kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich (kSZ) effect induces a non-zero density-densitytemperature bispectrum, which we can use to reconstruct the large-scale velocity field from a combination of cosmic microwave background (CMB) and galaxy density measurements, in a procedure known as "kSZ velocity reconstruction". This method has been forecast to constrain large-scale modes with future galaxy and CMB surveys, improving their measurement beyond what is possible with the galaxy surveys alone. Such measurements will enable tighter constraints on large-scale signals such as primordial non-Gaussianity, deviations from homogeneity, and modified gravity. In this work, we demonstrate a statistically significant measurement of kSZ velocity reconstruction for the first time, by applying quadratic estimators to the combination of the ACT DR6 CMB+kSZ map and the DESI LRG galaxies (with photometric redshifts) in order to reconstruct the velocity field. We do so using a formalism appropriate for the 2-dimensional projected galaxy fields that we use, which naturally incorporates the curved-sky effects important on the largest scales. We find evidence for the signal by cross-correlating with an external estimate of the velocity field from the spectroscopic BOSS survey and rejecting the null (no-kSZ) hypothesis at 3.8σ . Our work presents a first step towards the use of this observable for cosmological analyses.

KEYWORDS: Sunyaev-Zeldovich effect, cosmic web, galaxy surveys ARXIV EPRINT: 2410.06229

Contents

1	Introduction		
2	Data	4	
	2.1 kSZ dataset: ACT DR6	4	
	2.2 Photometric galaxy dataset	4	
	2.3 Spectroscopic galaxy dataset	6	
3	Reconstruction formalism and pipeline	8	
	3.1 kSZ velocity reconstruction pipeline	9	
	3.2 Cross-correlation with an external velocity template	11	
	3.3 Likelihood for detection	13	
4	Theory modelling	13	
	4.1 Radial velocity power spectrum from ReCCO	13	
5	Cross-correlation measurement and significance	16	
	5.1 Datapoints and covariance matrix	16	
	5.2 Consistency with zero	16	
	5.3 Measurement significance and recovered signal amplitude	18	
	5.4 Scale-dependence of the signal-to-noise	19	
	5.5 Redshift-dependence of the signal	20	
6	Conclusions	20	
Α	Galaxy-electron cross correlation	23	
	A.1 2-dimensional (angular) power spectra: $C_{\ell}^{g\tau}$ and 3-dimensional power s	pectrum	
	$P_{ge}(k,z)$	23	
	A.2 Galaxy model	24	
	A.3 Electron model	25	
в	Filters for the quadratic estimator	25	
	B.1 Temperature filter	25	
	B.2 Galaxy filters	25	
	B.3 Galaxy auto power spectra	27	
С	Velocity normalization	29	
D	Reconstructed velocity maps 3		

1 Introduction

Small-scale measurements of the cosmic microwave background (CMB) anisotropies are dominated by the CMB secondary anisotropies — chiefly the Sunyaev-Zel'dovich (SZ) effects [1–3] and CMB lensing [4, 5]. The former arise from the electromagnetic interaction (scattering) of CMB photons with electrons along the line of sight, and the latter from their gravitational interactions with matter. As we measure the CMB at higher resolution with ground-based experiments like the Atacama Cosmology Telescope (ACT) [6, 7], the South Pole Telescope (SPT) [8, 9], Simons Observatory (SO) [10], and CMB-S4 [11], we will continue to make extremely high signal-to-noise measurements of these signals, which contain different and complementary information to the primary anisotropies that dominated the space-based instrument era.

The SZ interaction has several different effects on CMB maps, depending on the properties of the electron gas that scatters the CMB. The thermal SZ (tSZ) effect is sourced when the electrons have relatively high pressure and upscatter the CMB photon; this induces a well-understood spectral distortion in the CMB [2], and thus can be isolated with its frequency dependence (see, e.g. [12–19]). The tSZ effect is a well-established probe of the thermodynamics of the highly massive, late-Universe objects (halos hosting galaxy clusters) that source the signal (see, e.g. [20–27]), and of the distributions of these clusters (see, e.g. [28–31]). See [32, 33] for reviews.

The kinematic SZ effect, in contrast, is sourced by the scattering of CMB photons off a gas of electrons that has a non-zero bulk velocity with respect to the CMB; the signal can be thought of as the Doppler shifting of the CMB. In this case, no spectral distortion is imparted to the photons, and so this signal cannot be separated from the primary CMB using multifrequency measurements. The primary anisotropies are dominant on large-tointermediate scales, making measurements of the kSZ signal difficult without high resolution data. Detections have been made with increasing significance through cross-correlations (see, e.g. [34–43]).

The kSZ signal depends on two properties of the electron gas that scatters the CMB: its density and radial velocity (with respect to the CMB). For most kSZ observables, the relevant quantities that source the anisotropies are the small-scale fluctuations in the electron density, and the *large-scale* fluctuations in the velocity field. By using an external measurement of the electron velocity (e.g. by inferring velocity from the large-scale density field), the velocity-electron density degeneracy can be broken, and the kSZ signal can become a probe of the electron density of the Universe. Similarly, combination with an external measurement of the large-scale velocity. Such a measurement has been recognized to have the power to probe the properties of the Universe on extremely large scales, through a process known as "kSZ tomography", or "kSZ velocity reconstruction" (see, e.g. [44–50]). This property of the signal has been forecast to be sensitive to local primordial non-Gaussianities, large-scale homogeneity and anisotropy, and modified gravity [51–57].

kSZ tomography has been demonstrated with simulations [58–60] and applied to *Planck* CMB data [61], with the unWISE galaxy sample [62, 63] used as the tracer of electron density. This combination led to a signal consistent with zero at ~ 1 σ . In this work, we use higher-resolution CMB data from ACT DR6 [64], along with the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) luminous red galaxy (LRG) sample [65], to perform kSZ velocity reconstruction. While there are more objects, with a higher number density, in the unWISE sample, their very wide redshift distributions (and large redshift uncertainties)

significantly dilute the velocity signal. The DESI LRGs, in contrast, have the advantage of having per-object photo-z estimates, which can be used to bin the velocity tomographically and reduce the line-of-sight cancellation. Additionally, due to the large overlap with the BOSS spectroscopic survey, we can benefit from making a detection using a cross-correlation with an external measurement of the velocity field, reconstructed from the continuity equation applied to the BOSS galaxies. We find ~ 3.8σ evidence of the cross-correlation between our kSZ-estimated velocity and this template.

This is a first step towards the application of a precision analysis pipeline to such signals. In particular, the signal we measure is sensitive to local primordial non-Gaussianity (through the continuity equation velocity estimate) and can be directly used to constrain $f_{\rm NL}^{\rm loc}$. In the broader landscape of upcoming high-resolution, low-noise CMB surveys such as SO and CMB-S4 and upcoming high-number-density galaxy surveys, including photometric surveys such as the Vera Rubin Observatory's LSST [66], Euclid [67], and SPHEREX [68], as well as spectroscopic surveys like DESI [69], kSZ tomography will turn into a high-signal-to-noise cosmological probe.

The $\langle Tgg \rangle$ statistic (where the first T is the CMB temperature, one g is the smallscale galaxy density, and the other g is the large-scale velocity field that is inferred from a galaxy survey) is the same statistic that is probed in kSZ velocity-weighted *stacking*, e.g. in [39, 43], where detections of the signal were made at 6.5 σ and 13 σ respectively, using the data combinations of ACT DR5+BOSS; ACT DR6+DESI LRGs respectively. However, the stacking measurement is more appropriate for constraining the baryon distribution, while our kSZ velocity reconstruction analysis method is more appropriate for constraining large-scale cosmology [50]. These detections show that with various data combinations, detections of the large-scale velocity field with higher significance will be possible imminently.

In this work, we work with the data combination $\langle v^{\text{kSZrecon,DESI}}v^{\text{continuity,BOSS}} \rangle$ (*ie*, we use a different galaxy sample for kSZ velocity reconstruction as for the continuity equation), which is expected to be suboptimal to both the $\langle v^{\text{kSZrecon,DESI-LRGS}}v^{\text{continuity,DESI-LRGS}} \rangle$ and $\langle v^{\text{kSZrecon,BOSS}}v^{\text{continuity,BOSS}} \rangle$ signals. We do this for several reasons. First, we use the DESI LRG sample for kSZ velocity reconstruction as we are interested demonstrating the application of the 2-dimensional formalism to data for which it is appropriate, *ie* photometric data. While in principle the 2-dimensional formalism can be applied to spectroscopic surveys, to achieve optimal signal to noise it may be necessary to use many redshift bins which may be computationally difficult. We note that, after submission of this paper, another work appeared which measured this signal in a different 3-dimensional formalism [70]. Second, while we expect higher signal-to-noise from the $\langle v^{\text{kSZrecon,DESI-LRGS}}v^{\text{continuity,DESI-LRGS}} \rangle$ combination, such a measurement requires a velocity reconstruction performed on the DESI LRG sample. This has now been performed (see, e.g. [43]), and analysis of this signal is ongoing work.

For all cosmological calculations throughout, we use the *Planck* 2018 cosmology [71], where $H_0 \equiv 100h = 67.66 \text{ km/s/Mpc}$, $\Omega_b h^2 = 0.02242$, $\Omega_c h^2 = 0.11933$, $\ln(10^{10}A_s) = 3.047$, and $n_s = 0.9665$, with H_0 the Hubble parameter today, $\Omega_b h^2$ the physical baryon density, $\Omega_c h^2$ the physical cold dark matter density, and A_s and n_s the amplitude and spectral index of scalar fluctuations respectively (at a pivot scale of 0.05 Mpc^{-1}).

2 Data

We use three datasets: a CMB blackbody map from ACT DR6+*Planck* [64] and a photometric galaxy sample from the DESI Legacy Survey [72] for the kSZ velocity reconstruction; and a spectroscopic galaxy sample from SDSS for the large-scale velocity template. We describe these below.

2.1 kSZ dataset: ACT DR6

The CMB map we use is the ACT DR6+Planck CMB temperature map, which is a needlet internal linear combination (NILC) [73] estimation of the blackbody signal in the multifrequency ACT data, described in [64]. NILC allows for the creation of a minimum-variance map from separate multifrequency maps which preserves the frequency dependence of a signal of interest (in this case, the blackbody primary CMB+kSZ signal) and allows for inter-frequency cleaning of other signals (such as the tSZ signal and other foregrounds). The map is created from a combination of ACT DR4 and DR6 data and *Planck* NPIPE data [74]. It covers 30% of the sky and is convolved with a 1.6 arcminute Gaussian beam. The area of sky covered is shown in figure 1. We reproject the map from the Plate-Carrée (CAR) coordinate system to a HEALPix coordinate system, with an $N_{\rm side}$ of 2048 (which has pixel size ~ 1.7'), by first projecting to spherical harmonics with $\ell_{\rm max} = 3 \times 2048$ and then to HEALPix. We note that the downgrading to $N_{\rm side} = 2048$, which is lower resolution than the native $\ell_{\rm max} \sim 21000$ resolution of the ACT DR6 map, limits us to a maximum multipole $\ell_{\rm max} = 3 \times 2048 = 6144$. While the kSZ signal is stronger on smaller scales, due to residual foreground power the improvement at high- ℓ is limited, and with this cut-off we capture $\sim 95\%$ of the signal-to-noise.

2.2 Photometric galaxy dataset

The galaxy dataset we use for kSZ velocity reconstruction is the DESI LRG sample with photometric redshifts described in [65]. These objects were selected from the imaging data from the DESI Legacy Survey DR9 [72, 75].

In [65], the subset of these galaxies with photo-z in the range $0.4 < z_{\rm photo} < 1$ was split into four tomographic redshift bins with spectroscopically-confirmed redshift distributions, for use in measurements that benefit from tomography and require accurate redshift distributions (such as for the ACT DR6 CMB lensing cross correlation analyses of [76, 77]). We similarly impose a $z_{\rm photo} > 0.4$ cut in order to avoid modelling the redshift distribution in the tails of the sample. We also require that the objects overlap in redshift with the BOSS galaxies, to perform the cross-correlation with BOSS galaxies, and so only use objects with $z_{\rm photo} < 0.7$. There are 9,638,964 such objects (out of 33,735,219 in the entire catalog). The distribution of their photometric redshifts is shown in figure 2.

We rebin these galaxies into four photometric redshift bins such that there are an equal number (2,409,741) of galaxies in each bin. Thus the photometric redshift boundaries are [0.4, 0.49, 0.57, 0.64, 0.7]. To model the *true* redshift distributions, we convolve these step (top-hat) functions with Gaussians with width $0.027 \times (1 + z)$, which quantifies the photometric redshift uncertainty; these true redshift distribution estimates are also shown in figure 3. Thus, the $\frac{dN}{dz}$ are approximate; in order to mitigate mismodelling of this redshift



Figure 1. The ACT mask (top left) and the DESI mask (top right) applied respectively to the kSZ map and each galaxy overdensity map for the velocity reconstruction. The resulting reconstructed velocity has their combined mask applied (bottom left) with an overlap area of 23.1% of the sky. The mask applied to the BOSS template is also shown (bottom right), with a sky area of 26.6%. The overlap area of the kSZ reconstruction mask and the BOSS mask is $f_{sky} = 11\%$.



Figure 2. The z^{photo} distribution for the DESI LRGs that we use in this work is shown (*blue*) along with the distribution of *spectroscopic* redshifts of the BOSS LOWZ (*orange*) and CMASS (*green*) galaxies. In every case the normalization is such that the distribution integrated over the redshift range is 1.



Figure 3. The four DESI LRG redshift distributions used for kSZ velocity reconstruction binned according to photometric redshift (*shaded*). The true $\frac{dN}{dz}$ for these samples is modeled by convolving photometric $\frac{dN}{dz^{\text{photo}}}$ with a Gaussian with width $0.027 \times (1 + z)$ (*solid lines*). All distributions are normalized such that they integrate to 1. Note that the entire $\frac{dN}{dz^{\text{photo}}}$ distribution is identical (up to normalization) to the blue distribution in figure 2.

distribution, we will not analyse any inter-bin measurements, as these are more sensitive to the poorly-modelled tails of the redshift distributions.

Note that our photometric bins are different from the four photometric bins defined in [65] with spectroscopic calibration, as we require bins with finer redshift resolution in order to maximize the signal-to-noise. We indicate in figure 3 a vertical grid in z with 100 [comoving] Mpc separation. This is the approximate velocity coherence length. As our bins are slightly wider than this, we still have some dilution of the velocity signal.

We project the galaxy bins onto the sphere and convert the projected galaxy maps $g^i(\hat{n})$ into galaxy overdensity maps δ^{g^i} according to

$$\delta^{g^{i}}(\hat{n}) = \frac{g^{i}(\hat{n}) - \bar{n}^{i}}{\bar{n}^{i}}$$
(2.1)

where \bar{n}^i is the mean galaxy density in bin *i*, which is measured directly from the projected maps by dividing the number of objects by the sky area.

2.3 Spectroscopic galaxy dataset

2.3.1 3-D velocities from SDSS-BOSS galaxies

For the velocity template we use in the cross-correlation, we use velocities reconstructed from the SDSS DR10 BOSS galaxy sample [78]. We use the filtered dataset as described in [39] which has had velocity reconstruction performed on it using the *continuity equation*, which infers velocity from overdensity according to

$$\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{v}^{\text{cont}} + \frac{f}{b} \vec{\nabla} \cdot \left[\left(\vec{v}^{\text{cont}} \cdot \hat{n} \right) \hat{n} \right] = -aHf \frac{\delta^g}{b}, \qquad (2.2)$$

Bin I	A_v^I
1	0.86
2	0.70
3	0.77
4	0.65

Table 1. The normalizations A_v^I which we apply to the template velocities to account for the Wiener-filtering (we rescale the templates by $1/A_v^I$).

where \vec{v}^{cont} is the three-dimensional velocity that appears in the continuity equation; $f \equiv \frac{d \ln \delta}{d \ln a}$ (with δ the dark matter overdensity and a the scale factor) is the growth rate; \hat{n} is a unit vector centered on the origin describing direction; H is the Hubble parameter; δ^g is the galaxy overdensity; and b is the linear galaxy bias. We use galaxies both from the CMASS and LOWZ samples.

2.3.2 Creation of 2-D velocity templates

We take the three-dimensional velocity field evaluated at the positions of the galaxies, and project it into the 2-dimensional radial velocity field on HEALPix maps of $N_{\rm side} = 32$ (pixel size ~ 1.8°). We refer to this as $v_r^{\rm BOSS, cont}$. In each pixel, we take the mean value of the radial velocity of the galaxies in that pixel reweighted by the relative redshift distributions between the BOSS samples and the four DESI LRG bins that we will use to perform kSZ velocity reconstruction. Explicitly, we have four templates (labelled by I):

$$\hat{v}_r^{\text{template},I} = \frac{\int v_r^{\text{BOSS,cont}} \frac{dN^I}{dz} dz}{\int \frac{dN^{\text{BOSS}}}{dz} dz},$$
(2.3)

where $\frac{dN^{I}}{dz}$ is the normalized redshift distribution of the galaxies in bin I (over which we want to estimate the velocities) and $\frac{dN^{\text{BOSS}}}{dz}$ is the normalized redshift distribution of the BOSS galaxies.

2.3.3 Velocity template normalization

The BOSS velocities we use are Wiener-filtered to downweight worse-measured modes (ie, those with low local comoving number density and low variance P(k)). Normally, their cross-correlation with our kSZ reconstruction should be normalized by Monte-Carlo methods. However, in our case, we apply a correction by comparing the power spectra of the measurements to those expected from theory. In particular, we show the template velocity auto power spectra for each bin in figure 19 of appendix C. We can then rescale the velocities by an amplitude A_v^I such that they match the theory in each redshift bin. By comparing the measurements with theory, we find that the velocities should be rescaled by the values listed in table 1.

We show the four radial velocity templates in figure 4.



Figure 4. The radial velocity template maps created from the continuity equation applied to BOSS data, as described in section 2.3.

3 Reconstruction formalism and pipeline

To perform kSZ velocity reconstruction, we use an adapted version of the public code ReCCO [60].¹ A very general version of the velocity estimator we use is described in detail in that reference. A similar version has previously been applied to the combination of *Planck* kSZ + unWISE galaxy data in [61]. We describe the estimator in this section.

We work in the 2-dimensional "lightcone" formalism appropriate for kSZ velocity reconstruction with photometric galaxies for which we do not have 3-dimensional information (or for which we can gain quasi-3-dimensional information by using tomographic redshift bins). This is in contrast to the 3-dimensional formalism which is more appropriate to spectroscopic surveys for which the full three-dimensional information is known (see, e.g., [50]).

The curved-sky harmonic space estimator for kSZ velocity reconstruction with galaxies was introduced in [49] and uses formalism that was developed for CMB lensing reconstruction in [79]. In both the CMB lensing and kSZ velocity reconstructions, the estimators search for a distinctive statistically anisotropic signature induced in the statistically isotropic CMB field through the modulation of small-scale statistics by a large-scale mode. In the case of CMB lensing, the small scale CMB power spectrum is modulated by the large-scale lensing convergence and shear. For the kSZ velocity reconstruction, the small-scale galaxy-electron power spectrum is modulated by the large-scale radial velocity field.

¹https://github.com/jcayuso/ReCCO.

In practice, we use a real-space version of the harmonic space estimator, which first appeared in [58] (and was generalized in [60]), as it is computationally more efficient and more practical to implement.

3.1 kSZ velocity reconstruction pipeline

3.1.1 kSZ-galaxy cross-correlation

The kSZ temperature anisotropy $\Delta T^{\rm kSZ}$ takes the form

$$\frac{\Delta T^{\text{kSZ}}(\hat{n})}{\bar{T}} = -\sigma_T \int d\chi a(\chi) v_r(\chi, \hat{n}) n_e(\chi, \hat{n}), \qquad (3.1)$$

$$\equiv -\int d\chi v_r(\chi, \hat{n})\dot{\tau}(\chi, \hat{n})$$
(3.2)

where \overline{T} is the mean temperature; σ_T is the Thomson scattering cross section; $a(\chi)$ is the scale factor at comoving distance χ ; $v_r(\chi, \hat{n}) \equiv \vec{v} \cdot \hat{n}$ is the radial velocity at (χ, \hat{n}) ; and $n_e(\chi, \hat{n})$ is the electron density at (χ, \hat{n}) . We encompass several of these quantities into the definition of differential optical depth $\dot{\tau}(\chi, \hat{n})$ above.

Due to the large-scale radial velocity modulation, the kSZ-galaxy cross correlation $\left\langle \Delta T^{\text{kSZ}}_{\ell m} \delta^{g^i}_{\ell'm'} \right\rangle$ is statistically anisotropic (ie, not proportional to $\delta_{\ell\ell'} \delta_{mm'}$, where δ_{XY} is the Kronecker delta). In particular,

$$\left\langle \frac{\Delta T_{\ell m}^{\rm kSZ}}{\bar{T}} \delta_{\ell'm'}^{g^i} \right\rangle = \sum_{\ell_1 m_1 \ell_2 m_2} W_{m_1 m_2 - m}^{\ell_1 \ell_2 \ell} \int d\chi \left\langle v_{r\ell_1 m_1}(\chi) \dot{\tau}_{\ell_2 m_2}(\chi) \delta_{\ell'm'}^{g^i} \right\rangle, \tag{3.3}$$

where $W_{m_1m_2m_3}^{\ell_1\ell_2\ell_3}$ is a mode-coupling matrix of the form:

$$W_{m_1m_2m_3}^{\ell_1\ell_2\ell_3} = \sqrt{\frac{(2\ell_1+1)(2\ell_2+1)(2\ell_3+1)}{4\pi}} \begin{pmatrix} \ell_1 & \ell_2 & \ell_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \ell_1 & \ell_2 & \ell_3 \\ m_1 & m_2 & m_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.4)

To probe large scales in the radial velocity, we can work in the squeezed limit, where $\ell_1 \equiv L \ll \ell_2, \ell_3$. In that limit, the three-point function in equation (3.3) can be simplified according to

$$\left\langle v_{rLM}(\chi)\dot{\tau}_{\ell_2 m_2}(\chi)\delta^{g^i}_{\ell'm'}\right\rangle \approx v_{rLM}(\chi)\left\langle \dot{\tau}_{\ell_2 m_2}(\chi)\delta^{g^i}_{\ell'm'}\right\rangle \tag{3.5}$$

$$\equiv v_{rLM}(\chi) \left(C_{\ell'}^{\dagger g^i}(\chi) \delta_{\ell' \ell_2} \delta_{m' m_2} \right), \qquad (3.6)$$

where the form of the last line results from the statistical isotropy of $\langle \dot{\tau}_{\ell_2 m_2}(\chi) \delta^{g^i}_{\ell' m'} \rangle$. Using this approximation simplifies equation (3.3) to

$$\left\langle \frac{\Delta T_{\ell m}^{\rm kSZ}}{\bar{T}} \delta_{\ell'm'}^{g^i} \right\rangle = \int d\chi \sum_{LM} (-1)^M \begin{pmatrix} \ell & \ell' & L \\ m & m' & -M \end{pmatrix} f_{\ell\ell'L} C_{\ell'}^{\dagger g^i} v_{rLM}(\chi)$$
(3.7)

where

$$f_{\ell\ell'L} = \sqrt{\frac{(2\ell+1)(2\ell'+1)(2L+1)}{4\pi}} \begin{pmatrix} \ell & \ell' & L \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.8)

This demonstrates that the mode coupling between T and δ^g is proportional to the projection of v_r , we can use this property to write down a quadratic estimator with T, δ^g that uses this mode coupling to reconstruct v_r .

3.1.2 Harmonic-space quadratic estimator for v_r

[49, 60, 61, 80] show that the minimum variance, unbiased quadratic estimators of a redshiftintegrated velocity field v_{rLM}^i are

$$\hat{v}_{rLM}^{i} = A_{L}^{i} \sum_{\ell m; \ell' m'} (-1)^{M} \begin{pmatrix} \ell & \ell' & L \\ m & m' & -M \end{pmatrix} f_{\ell\ell' L} C_{\ell'}^{\tau g^{i}} \tilde{T}_{\ell m} \tilde{\delta_{\ell' m'}},$$
(3.9)

where $\tilde{X}_{\ell m} \equiv \frac{X_{\ell}m}{C_{\ell}^{XX}}$ indicates the multipole moments of an inverse-variance-filtered field (where C_{ℓ}^{XX} includes signal and noise); $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^{i}} \equiv \int d\chi C_{\ell}^{\dot{\tau} g^{i}}(\chi)$; and

$$A_{L}^{i} = (2L+1) \left(\sum_{\ell;\ell'} \frac{\left(f_{\ell\ell'L} C_{\ell'}^{\tau g^{i}} \right)^{2}}{C_{\ell}^{TT} C_{\ell'}^{g^{i}g^{i}}} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (3.10)

Note that $T_{\ell m}$ is an estimate of $T_{\ell m}^{\text{kSZ}}$, and includes the signal as well as other sources of foregrounds and noise (such as the primary CMB). The projected quantity that we estimate v_r^i is related to the three-dimensional velocity $v_r(\chi)$ by the following integral:

$$v_{rLM}^{i} \approx \int d\chi \frac{C_{\ell=\bar{\ell}}^{\dot{\tau}g^{i}}(\chi)}{C_{\ell=\bar{\ell}}^{\tau g^{i}}} v_{rLM}(\chi), \qquad (3.11)$$

where $\bar{\ell}$ is a reference multipole that contributes most of the signal-to-noise to the measurement.

While the kernel $C_{\ell=\bar{\ell}}^{\dot{\tau}g^i}(\chi)$ incorporates both the redshift evolution of the galaxies and of the differential optical depth within each bin, if the differential optical depth is approximated as constant within each bin (such that the overall optical depth $\tau = \int_{\chi_1}^{\chi_2} \dot{\tau}(\chi) d\chi = (\chi_2 - \chi_1)\dot{\tau}$), then only the galaxy redshift evolution is relevant and we can make the approximation

$$v_{rLM}^i \approx \int d\chi W^i(\chi) v_{rLM}(\chi),$$
 (3.12)

where $W^i(\chi)$ is the redshift distribution $(\frac{dN}{d\chi})$ of the galaxy window used in the estimation. For our case, we have checked that this expression reproduces equation (3.11) to within a few percent, and so in practice, this is the quantity that we calculate.

3.1.3 Real-space quadratic estimator for v_r

In practice, we use a real-space version of equation (3.9). This estimator is advantageous as it requires only forward-and-backward spherical harmonic transformations on the data (and no further complicated computations such as of Wigner-J symbols, except in the computation of the normalization A_L). The real-space estimator is

$$\hat{v}_{rLM}^{i} = A_{L}^{i} \left(\tilde{T}(\hat{n}) \zeta^{i}(\hat{n}) \right)_{LM}, \qquad (3.13)$$

where $\zeta^{i}(\hat{n})$ is a filtered version of a galaxy field. The filtering is such that it has the (modeled) scale dependence of the τ field:

$$\zeta_{lm}^i = C_\ell^{\tau g^i} \delta^{g^i}{}_{\ell m} \tag{3.14}$$

where $\tilde{\delta}^g$ is an inverse-variance-filtered galaxy overdensity field. The real-space estimator \hat{v}^i_{rLM} is the spherical-harmonic transform of their real-space product, filtered by A^i_L .

3.1.4 Inputs to the estimator and the optical depth bias

The estimators depend on the multipole moments of the temperature field $T_{\ell m}$; the multipole moments of the galaxy overdensity field $\delta_{\ell m}^{g^i}$; their auto power spectra C_{ℓ}^{TT} , $C_{\ell}^{g^ig^i}$; and the galaxy-electron cross power spectrum $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$. The auto power spectra C_{ℓ}^{TT} and $C_{\ell}^{g^ig^i}$, which are used for inverse-variance-filtering, are the auto spectra of the signal including all noise contributions and are estimated directly from the data.

In contrast, $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$, which quantifies how the galaxies are distributed with respect to the electrons, is not obtained from the data and requires a model. We describe the model we use in appendix A. An incorrect model will lead to a biased (mis-normalized) estimator — this is the "optical depth bias" such that

$$\hat{v}_{rLM}^{i} = b_{L}^{i} v_{rLM}^{i}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where b_L^i is the bias in question. b_L^i can be expressed in terms of the model error on $C_{\ell}^{g\tau}$ and is scale-independent on the scales L of interest (see, e.g., figure 13 of [60]), so there are in principle only i optical-depth-bias parameters. In practice, we will reduce this to one parameter (which we will label A), as we do not have the signal-to-noise to detect any redshift evolution in our model.

The filters used are presented in more detail in appendix B.

3.1.5 Results of the reconstruction: radial velocity maps

We show the reconstructed velocity fields in figure 5. As small-scale noise fluctuations dominate, we show the maps filtered to preserve only the L < 20 information. We show in appendix D the same plots but with only the L < 10 and L < 50 information shown.

3.2 Cross-correlation with an external velocity template

3.2.1 Velocity power spectrum measurement

After creating estimates of \hat{v}_r^i we then estimate the velocity power spectrum C_{ℓ}^{vv} by crosscorrelating the kSZ-reconstructed $\hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i}$ with the velocity templates created by performing continuity-equation velocity reconstruction on the BOSS galaxies $\hat{v}_r^{\text{template},I}$. We refer to our estimate as $C_{\ell}^{\hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i}\hat{v}_r^{\text{template},J}}$. We perform the power spectrum measurements with pymaster [81].² This is a python implementation of the MASTER algorithm [82], which estimates a multipole-binned mask-decoupled power spectrum of two masked Gaussian fields. We note that this is suboptimal to, say, a quadratic maximum likelihood approach [83], which we leave for future work.

While there are 16 independent cross-correlations (as i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and J = 1, 2, 3, 4), we only measure the four "intra-bin" power spectra where i = J. This avoids bias from modelling uncertainties, in particular in the tails of the redshift distributions.

3.2.2 Velocity covariance matrix

We calculate the covariance matrix $\mathbb{C} \equiv \text{Cov}(\hat{C}_L^{\hat{v}_r^{kSZ,i}}\hat{v}_r^{\text{template},I}, \hat{C}_{L'}^{\hat{v}_r^{kSZ,j}}\hat{v}_r^{\text{template},J})$ by creating 3200 null Gaussian simulations of the NILC temperature map and the DESI galaxy overdensity

²https://namaster.readthedocs.io.



Figure 5. The reconstructed velocity maps in each bin, filtered such that only the L < 20 modes are shown. See appendix D for maps constructed with other filters.

maps. We do this by drawing random (full-sky) realizations of a temperature field with the same power spectrum as the NILC temperature map, and galaxy fields with the same power spectra as the tomographically binned DESI galaxy samples $C_{\ell}^{g^ig^j}$ (including $i \neq j$); this is performed easily with healpy's synalm() function. We include no correlation between the simulated galaxies and temperature, and so expect to recover a null signal. We mask these with the appropriate masks and then run our full velocity reconstruction pipeline on these simulations (as described in section 3.1).

In practice, we find that these do not adequately explain the entire variance of the velocity measurements. While the simulations match the data at the 2-point level, we find that there is a mismatch of order 1.2^2 at the 4-point level. In particular, the measured auto power spectra of the velocities reconstructed from the simulations agree with the theoretical calculation

$$C_L^{v_{\text{gaussian}^i}v_{\text{gaussian}^i}} \equiv N_L^{(0)\hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i}\hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i}} = A_L^i, \qquad (3.16)$$

where $N_L^{(0)} \hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i} \hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i}$ is the Gaussian reconstruction noise expected from the pipeline applied to Gaussian, signal-free data (indicated by v^{gaussian^i}), and where A_L^i is the same as the amplitude in equation (3.10); this is expected. However, due to an unmodelled 4-point function in the data, we find that the data has an excess of order 1.2^2 (ie, $N_L^{(0)} \hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i} \hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i} \approx 1.2^2 A_L^i$,). This may be due to higher order $\langle ggTT \rangle$ biases not included in the simulations; a similar phenomenon was found in [61]. To correct for this, we simply multiply the simulations by 1.2, which results in the auto power spectra of the simulated velocity reconstructions matching

those of the data. This only has the effect of increasing the errorbars by a factor of 1.2, and does not affect the data or modelling.

We then measure $\hat{C}_L^{\hat{v}_r^{kSZ_{sim},i}}$ (as described in section 3.2.1), using the *true* velocity field from the BOSS galaxies. We verify that the mean measurement is zero, and use the covariance of these measurements as our covariance matrix.

3.3 Likelihood for detection

We write a likelihood

$$-2\ln\mathcal{L}(\hat{C}_{L}^{\hat{v}_{r}^{kSZ,i}\hat{v}_{r}^{template,I}},A) = \left(\hat{C}_{L}^{\hat{v}_{r}^{kSZ,i}\hat{v}_{r}^{template,I}} - AC_{L}^{v^{i}v^{I}}\right)\mathbb{C}^{-1}\left(\hat{C}_{L'}^{\hat{v}_{r}^{kSZ,j}\hat{v}_{r}^{template,J}} - AC_{L'}^{v^{j}v^{J}}\right)$$

$$(3.17)$$

$$\equiv \chi^{2}$$

$$(3.18)$$

where $C_L^{v^i v^J}$ (with no hat) indicates a theory model. A is an ampltidue parameter that encompasses the uncertainty in the electron and galaxy model: the optical depth bias. As we have low signal to noise, we jointly fit only one parameter across all redshift bins, although we will explore redshift dependence of A in section 5.5. We maximize the likelihood with respect to A to find a best-fit amplitude for the theory model. We then use 6800 more Gaussian simulations, which are created the same way as those we used to estimate the covariance matrix (ie, as described in section 3.2.2), but which, importantly, are independent from those used in the covariance estimation, and maximize the likelihood with respect to A for all of these simulations. We verify that the mean is zero, and use the distribution of measurements to quantify the uncertainty (covariance) on A.

4 Theory modelling

We require a theory model for two quantities: the electron-galaxy angular cross-correlation power spectrum, $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$, and the velocity auto-power spectrum, $C_{\ell}^{v^A v^B}$. We use class_sz³ [84, 85] to model $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$, and our modified version of ReCCO to model $C_{L}^{v^A v^B}$. We present the model for the velocity power spectrum in this section, and we present the model for $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$ in appendix A.

4.1 Radial velocity power spectrum from ReCCO

We model the radial velocity power spectrum $C_L^{v^A v^B}$ on large scales within the linear Λ CDM model by modifying code previously implemented in ReCCO. $C_L^{v^A v^B}$ is modelled as

$$C_L^{v^A v^B} = \int d\chi_1 d\chi_2 W^A(\chi_1) W^B(\chi_2) \times \int \frac{k^2 dk}{(2\pi)^3} \mathcal{K}_L^v(\chi_1, k) \mathcal{K}_L^v(\chi_2, k) P_{\text{lin}}(\chi_1, \chi_2, k),$$
(4.1)

where $W^X(\chi)$ are the redshift kernels of the velocity fields we are interested in, and the integral over the 3d Fourier-space vector k calculates how the gravitational impact of the large

³https://github.com/CLASS-SZ/class_sz.



Figure 6. Redshift kernels used in the cross-correlation modeling for the kSZ reconstruction on the DESI LRGs (solid lines), and for the BOSS templates (dotted lines). The BOSS and DESI bins are equal (up to normalization) except for the z < 0.7 cut, imposed to reflect the redshift coverage of the survey. All distributions are normalized to integrate to 1. Note the lower redshift BOSS and DESI bins coincide.

scale matter distribution induces velocities. Here $P_{\text{lin}}(\chi_1, \chi_2, k)$ is the linear matter power spectrum, and the velocity kernel $\mathcal{K}_L^v(\chi, k)$ is constructed from the velocity transfer functions. The relevant redshift kernels for $C_\ell^{v^i v^I}$ (which appears in our likelihood) are $\frac{dN^i}{d\chi}$ and

The relevant redshift kernels for $C_{\ell}^{v^*v^*}$ (which appears in our likelihood) are $\frac{dN^i}{d\chi}$ and $\frac{dN^I}{d\chi}$, the redshift distributions for the four DESI bins and BOSS templates respectively. These are shown in figure 3.

For $W^i(\chi)$ (relevant for the kSZ-reconstructed velocity), we use:

$$W^{i,\text{kSZ}}(\chi) = \frac{\frac{dN^i}{d\chi}}{\int \frac{dN^i}{d\chi} d\chi}$$
(4.2)

where $\frac{dN^i}{d\chi}$ is the redshift distribution of the tomographic DESI galaxy bin we used in the kSZ velocity reconstruction for bin *i*. For the BOSS templates, which have been reweighted to match the same redshift distribution but which contain no information from galaxies at z > 0.7, we use

$$W^{I,\text{template}}(\chi) = \begin{cases} \frac{\frac{dN^{I}}{d\chi}}{\int_{z<0.7} \frac{dN^{I}}{d\chi} d\chi} & z<0.7\\ 0 & z \ge 0.7, \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

where $\frac{dN^{I}}{d\chi}$ are the same as $\frac{dN^{i}}{d\chi}$. These are shown in figure 6. Note the different normalization in the highest redshift bins, which is due to the fact that all redshift kernels are normalized to integrate to 1.

The velocity kernel has the form

$$\mathcal{K}_{L}^{v}(\chi,k) = 4\pi i^{L} \frac{f(\chi)H(\chi)a(\chi)}{(2L+1)k} \left(Lj_{L-1}(k\chi) - (L+1)j_{L+1}(k\chi)\right), \tag{4.4}$$



Figure 7. The theory auto-power-spectra for the four redshift bins, as computed with ReCCO. We show the expected signal for the auto-spectra of the reconstructions and of the templates, as well as their cross power spectra. Note that for Bins 1 and 2, the BOSS redshift bins overlap with the kSZ redshift bins such that the solid, dashed, and dotted lines all lie on top of each other for these bins. The sharp cutoff at z > 0.7 in the BOSS template leads to the separation of the curves seen for Bin 4 and, to a lesser extent, Bin 3.

where $j_L(x)$ is the Bessel function of degree L. Note that this only includes the contribution to the kSZ signal from the "local Doppler" term (ie, the relative velocity of a remote object with respect to us — the part sourced by the gravitational field around it), and neglects the signal induced by the intrinsic CMB dipole that an object sees.⁴

At large L, and when $W(\chi)$ has wide support (ie, large redshift bins), the Limber approximation [86] allows equation (4.1) to be simplified to the very familiar

$$C_L^{v^A v^B} = \int \frac{d\chi}{\chi^2} W^A(\chi) W^B(\chi) \left(\mathcal{K}_L^v\left(\chi, \frac{L+1/2}{\chi}\right) \right)^2 P_{\text{lin}}\left(\chi, \frac{L+1/2}{\chi}\right).$$
(4.5)

On large scales, this is not a good approximation. Thus, ReCCO uses the beyond-Limber corrections of [87] to compute equation (4.1). The implementation is described in detail in appendix A of [60].

The theoretical signal is shown in figure 7. We show the power spectra calculated both with the window functions appropriate for the kSZ reconstruction ("kSZ reconstruction auto", $C_L^{v^i v^i}$) and for the BOSS templates ("BOSS template auto", $C_L^{v^I v^I}$) as well as one of each ("kSZ reconstruction X BOSS template", $C_L^{v^i v^I}$), which we will measure by taking the cross-spectra of the reconstruction with the templates. The models differ for the higher-redshift bins due to the sharp cut-off in z of the BOSS templates at z = 0.7.

 $^{^{4}}$ On very large scales, these contributions may be relevant to the auto power spectrum of the kSZreconstructed velocity, and contain useful information to constrain primordial physics (see, e.g., [55]), but they do not appear in the velocity field template that was reconstructed from the continuity equation and so are not relevant for our signal.

5 Cross-correlation measurement and significance

In this section we present our measurements of the velocity power spectrum $C_L^{v^A v^B}$. All measurements are "cross" spectra, in that we are measuring a cross power spectrum between a continuity-equation-reconstructed template and a kSZ-reconstructed velocity. To avoid confusion, we refer to this spectrum (ie, $C_L^{v^i v^I}$) as the "intra-bin" power spectra (ie, as opposed to the "auto-spectrum", or the "cross-spectrum", which could more generically mean an inter-bin measurement of $C_L^{v^i v^J}$ for $i \neq J^5$).

We measure the cross power-spectra with pymaster. In all cases, we use an L-binning scheme defined by linear bins with $\Delta L = 6$ starting at $L_{\min} = 3$ and up to $L_{\max} = 56$ (note that we also include the bin 0 < L < 3 in our pymaster binning scheme, measurement, and decoupling matrix, although we do not use it in the analysis). We explore the sensitivity of the measurement to L_{\min} in section 5.4.

We note that the auto power spectrum of the reconstruction is expected to be noisedominated, and so we do not report a measurement; we expect the total signal-to-noise ratio to be ~ 1.4 for $L_{\min} = 3$, and 0.6 for $L_{\min} = 8$. As any measurement would not be statistically significant, and highly dependent on the lowest L bin, we choose to focus only on the cross-correlation.

5.1 Datapoints and covariance matrix

The measured "intra-bin" cross power spectra of the kSZ velocity reconstructions and the BOSS templates, $\hat{C}_L^{\hat{v}^{\text{kSZ},i}\hat{v}^{\text{template},I}}$ are shown in figure 8. To measure their covariance matrix, we use 3200 of the simulations described above. This covariance matrix is shown in figure 9, along with the same object converted to a correlation matrix (ie, divided by the square root of its diagonal on both axes). It is clear here that the most important off-diagonal correlations are those between neighbouring multipole bins, although some structure in the correlations begin to be visible for the L = L' entries of $\text{Cov}(C_L^{v_r^3 v_r^3}, C_L^{v_r^4 v_r^4})$. This is expected, as these redshift bins have a largest overlap, and the underlying signal $C_L^{v_r^{\text{template},I}}$ as well as the correlated reconstruction noise $N_L^{v_r^{\text{kSZ},i} v_r^{\text{kSZ},i}}$ are maximized here (recall there is no signal $C_L^{v_r^{\text{kSZ},i} v_r^{\text{kSZ},i}}$ or $C_L^{v_r^{\text{kSZ},i} v_r^{\text{kSZ},i}}$ in the simulations, including for i = J).

5.2 Consistency with zero

The χ^2 with respect to zero of our measurement is 57.59, corresponding to a PTE of 1.26% (as calculated from an analytical χ^2 distribution for 36 degrees of freedom, corresponding to four redshift bins with nine *L* bins each). We show this, along with the distribution of χ^2 -to-zero from our null simulations, in figure 10. Indeed, 114 (ie, 1.68%) of the simulations have a higher χ^2 than the measurement; this, along with the fact that the analytical χ^2 is a good fit by-eye to the histogram on, indicates that the analytical χ^2 distribution is a good description for these datapoints.

⁵While we can measure $C_L^{v^i v^J}$, we do not model it as it is more sensitive to tails in the $\frac{dN}{dz}$ than the inter-bin measurement, and is thus difficult to model accurately without spectroscopically confirmed redshift distributions. However, the signal is expected to be non-zero, both due to long-range inter-bin correlations and the non-negligible redshift overlap of neighbouring bins. We leave the interpretations of such measurements to future work.



Figure 8. The measured cross power spectra of the four velocity templates and reconstructions, along with the best-fit models.



Figure 9. Left: the log of the absolute value of the covariance matrix for the intra-bin analysis. Right: the correlation matrix for the intra-bin analysis. The correlation matrix is defined here as the covariance matrix divided by the square root of its diagonal on both axes. We have removed the diagonal from the visualization, as it is by definition equal to 1.



Figure 10. Left: The distribution of the χ^2 with respect to zero of $C_L^{v^i v^I}$ from 6800 simulations, with the χ^2 of the measurement also indicated. Center: The distribution of the $\Delta\chi^2$, ie the difference between the χ^2 with respect to the best fit and the χ^2 with respect to zero of $C_L^{v^i v^I}$ from 6800 simulations, with the $\Delta\chi^2$ of the measurement also indicated. Only two of the 6800 simulations have a higher $\Delta\chi^2$ than the measurement. Right: The distribution of the recovered best-fit values of A, for the simulations and with the data measurement indicated. In all cases the histograms are normalized to be density distributions, and similarly the Gaussian plots have unit normalization.

5.3 Measurement significance and recovered signal amplitude

We maximize the likelihood defined in equation (3.17) with respect to the amplitude parameter A, both for the data and also for our 6800 null simulations. The improvement in the χ^2 , ie $\Delta\chi^2 \equiv \chi^2|_0 - \chi^2|_{\text{maximum-likelihood}}$, with $\chi^2|_0$ the χ^2 when A = 0 and $\chi^2|_{\text{maximum-likelihood}}$ the χ^2 at the maximum likelihood value, is shown in figure 10, in the centre panel. We overplot an analytic χ^2 distribution for one degree-of-freedom. The improvement in the χ^2 for the measurement is 14.06, corresponding to a PTE of 0.018%—when comparing to the simulations, we note that this $\Delta\chi^2$ is indeed greater than all but two (ie, 0.03%) of them. Given the agreement between the distributions and the analytical χ^2 distributions, we can use either of these as a detection significance, and note that this corresponds to ~ 3.7 σ evidence (from the simulations) or 3.9σ from the analytical χ^2 distribution. The χ^2 with respect to the best fit is 43.53, corresponding to a PTE of 0.2133 (for 37 degrees of freedom). Restricting to each redshift bin alone, the $\Delta\chi^2$ to the best-fit is (4.2, -0.3, 4.3, 5.9) for i = (1, 2, 3, 4).

The best-fit value of A is shown, along with the corresponding distribution from the null simulations, on the right hand side of figure 10. We overplot a Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and standard deviation given by the measured standard deviation of the values recovered from the simulations; this can be interpreted as the 1σ errorbar on A. We recover a best-fit value of $A = 0.638 \pm 0.17$, providing 3.8σ evidence of $A \neq 0$. We note that again only 2 simulations out of 6800 have a best fit value of A with |A| greater than the measured value.

The datapoints, along with the best-fit model, are shown in figure 8. For visualization purposes, it is also helpful to co-add the datapoints from the different redshift bins and compare to a co-added best-fit model.

In order to co-add the datapoints, we first divide each measurement (and the covariance) by the relevant best-fit theory, and multiply by a common reference signal. For the reference signal, we take the geometric mean of the best-fit theory:

$$A_{\text{best-fit}}C_L^{VV} = \left(\prod_{i=I=1}^4 A_{\text{best-fit}}C_L^{v^iv^I}\right)^{1/4}.$$
(5.1)



Figure 11. The reweighted, co-added datapoints, and the reweighted theory. This plot is shown for visualization purposes; in practice, the datapoints of figure 8 are analyzed.

Thus our rescaled measurements are given by

3

2

-2

 $L^2 C_L^{vv}$, geometricmean

$$\hat{d}_L^i = \frac{A_{\text{best-fit}} C_L^{VV}}{A_{\text{best-fit}} C_L^{v^i v^J}} \hat{C}_L^{\hat{v}_r^{\text{kSZ},i} \hat{v}_r^{\text{template},I}}.$$
(5.2)

These are estimators of $A_{\text{best-fit}}C_L^{VV}$. We then optimally co-add the datapoints given the covariances,

$$\hat{d}_L^{\text{co-added}} = \sum_i w_L^i \hat{d}_L^i, \tag{5.3}$$

where the weights w_i are such that the variance of $\hat{d}_L^{\text{co-added}}$ is minimized subject to the constraint that $\sum_i w_L^i = 1$. This is the minimum-variance estimator of $A_{\text{best-fit}}C_L^{VV}$. The weights are found straightforwardly by evaluating

$$w_L^i = \frac{a^T \mathbb{C}_L^{-1}}{a^T \mathbb{C}_L^{-1} a^T},$$
(5.4)

where \mathbb{C}_{L}^{-1} is the inter-bin inverse of the covariance matrix \mathbb{C} , and *a* is a vector of ones. We show the optimally co-added datapoints, and the reference signal, in figure 11.

5.4 Scale-dependence of the signal-to-noise

The measured best-fit value of A, as a function of the minimum multipole included in the analysis L_{\min} , is shown in figure 12. As expected, much of the signal-to-noise is on the largest scale, with a 3σ signal requiring $L_{\min} \leq 12$, and a 2σ signal requiring $L_{\min} < 20$. This indicates the constraining power of the extremely large scales, and simultaneously the stability of the measurement to the value of L_{\min} .

Figure 12. The best-fit value of A as a function of the minimum multipole included in the analysis L_{\min} . The 1σ , 2σ , and 3σ regions are indicated. Much of the signal-to-noise comes from the largest scales, in particular the 3σ signal requires $L_{\min} \leq 12$, and a 2σ signal requires $L_{\min} \leq 20$.

5.5 Redshift-dependence of the signal

We have previously been fitting one best-fit amplitude jointly to all redshift bins. We can also allow for redshift dependence of the signal by fitting a different parameter A^i separately each redshift bin. We show the results of such a procedure in figure 13. On the left of figure 13 we show Gaussian distributions centred on the measured best-fit value of A_i , with standard deviations given by the measured standard deviation of the best-fit values on the 6800 simulations. We also show the same quantity for our jointly-fit A. Note that all of the measurements are consistent with each other, and so can be combined. On the right, we make any possible redshift dependence clear. There is not enough signal to noise to detect any trend. The χ^2 with respect to the four-parameter model is 41.90, which corresponds to a PTE of 13.8% (for 33 degrees of freedom). Recalling that the fixed-A model had a χ^2 of 43.53 (and a PTE of 0.2133), it is clear that we cannot prefer the varying-A model over the fixed-A model — ie, we do not have the signal-to-noise to detect evolution in A.

6 Conclusions

In this work, we have found the first evidence, at 3.8σ , for the large-scale velocity field as reconstructed by kSZ tomography using the 2-dimensional "lightcone" formalism. This formalism (which is used to reconstruct and model the 2-dimensional *angular* velocity field) stands in contrast to the 3-dimensional formalism, which is more appropriate for kSZ velocity reconstruction with spectroscopic surveys in which full 3-dimensional information is available.

Currently, this measurement serves as a proof-of-principle that such a signal is detectable. However, given the cosmological interest in this observable, and the impending increase in galaxy samples and improvements in small-scale CMB data, we expect kSZ tomography to become a precision probe of the late-Universe density field in the near-term future. Such a

Figure 13. The redshift dependence of A. Left: Gaussian estimates of the posterior distributions of A (assuming a uniform linear prior on A), which we define as $\mathcal{P}(A) \propto e^{-\frac{(A-A_{\text{bestfit}}^i)^2}{2\sigma_i^2}}$, with A_{bestfit}^i the measurement from the data and σ_i the standard deviation of the best-fit of the simulations in that redshift bin (which are centred on zero). We also show the equivalent distribution for the joint best-fit, in black. Right: The redshift dependence of A^i , plotted against the mean redshift of the bins (which we calculate by taking the z at which $W^i(z)$ integrates to 1/2 from 0). The points are centred on the best-fit value of A^i , with the errorbar given by σ_i as before. The 1σ region of the joint constraint is also indicated in gray.

research programme will require well-tested reconstruction pipelines, appropriate for various datasets.

The 2-dimensional lightcone formalism we have used is complementary to the 3dimensional "box" formalism (e.g., as developed in [50]). The box formalism makes it easy to incorporate the full 3-dimensional information in a spectroscopic survey; however it has drawbacks in that it is difficult to incorporate redshift evolution and very large-scale curved-sky effects (due to approximations such as the flat-sky approximation that are used in the box formalism). The 2-dimensional lightcone formalism, in contrast, naturally incorporates these effects; but the requirement of tomographic redshift binning necessarily loses some of the 3-dimensional information (which can dilute the velocity signal). For photometric surveys, however, there will be no information loss if the redshift bins are chosen to have widths similar to the photometric redshift error of the sample. In principle, the information in a spectrosopic survey can also be accessed by using the 2-dimensional formalism by using redshift bins that are closer to the correlation length of the signal of interest; however, it is possible that such an analysis will be computationally difficult. We leave such a study to future work.

As such, it will be important to develop both pipelines in preparation for different types of galaxy samples.

This work was intended as a demonstration and proof-of-principle of the kSZ velocity reconstruction pipeline on data, and so we report only our detection significance and best-fit value of the optical depth bias A. However, we note that the C_L^{vv} signal we measure is directly sensitive to interesting beyond- Λ CDM physics including local primordial non-Gaussianity, and can be used directly to constrain $f_{\rm NL}$; we leave such a constraint for follow-up work. Indeed, higher signal-to-noise may be accessible using current datasets with velocity reconstruction performed directly on the photometric galaxies, as advocated in [88, 89] (and applied recently to a similar combination of datasets in [43]). We note that [90] found constraints on $f_{\rm NL}$ with $\sigma(f_{\rm NL}) \sim 200$ from applying this method to the *Planck*+unWISE data combination.

We note that the galaxy sample we use has previously been used to constrain $f_{\rm NL}$ [91]; in principle, the combination with the kSZ velocity observable can allow for improvements compared to the auto power spectrum measurement — both by way of sample variance cancellation [92] and because the $C_L^{v^{\rm kSZ}v^{\rm template}}$ constraint *alone* is interesting due to its dependence on different large-scale systematics compared to the auto power spectrum. As was demonstrated on data for the first time recently in [90], there is also a wide range of beyond- Λ CDM models that can be constrained with the kSZ velocity signal.

Acknowledgments

Support for ACT was through the U.S. National Science Foundation through awards AST-0408698, AST-0965625, and AST-1440226 for the ACT project, as well as awards PHY-0355328, PHY-0855887 and PHY-1214379. Funding was also provided by Princeton University, the University of Pennsylvania, and a Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) award to UBC. ACT operated in the Parque Astronómico Atacama in northern Chile under the auspices of the Agencia Nacional de Investigación y Desarrollo (ANID). The development of multichroic detectors and lenses was supported by NASA grants NNX13AE56G and NNX14AB58G. Detector research at NIST was supported by the NIST Innovations in Measurement Science program. Computing for ACT was performed using the Princeton Research Computing resources at Princeton University, the National Energy Research Scientific Computing Center (NERSC), and the Niagara supercomputer at the SciNet HPC Consortium. SciNet is funded by the CFI under the auspices of Compute Canada, the Government of Ontario, the Ontario Research Fund-Research Excellence, and the University of Toronto. We thank the Republic of Chile for hosting ACT in the northern Atacama, and the local indigenous Licanantay communities whom we follow in observing and learning from the night sky.

FMcC acknowledges support from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant agreement No. 851274). The Flatiron Institute is a division of the Simons Foundation. EC acknowledges support from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant agreement No. 849169). MCJ is supported by the National Science and Engineering Research Council through a Discovery grant. This research was supported in part by Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics. Research at Perimeter Institute is supported by the Government of Canada through the Department of Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada and by the Province of Ontario through the Ministry of Colleges and Universities. KM acknowledges support from the Agencia Nacional de Investigación y Desarrollo (ANID) through Basal project FB210003. This work was supported by a grant from the Simons Foundation (CCA 918271, PBL). We thank Boryana Hadzhiyska for useful discussions.

This work made use of HEALPix [93] and its python implementation healpy [94].⁶

⁶https://healpy.readthedocs.io/en/latest/.

A Galaxy-electron cross correlation

We model the galaxy-electron cross correlation $C_{\ell}^{g\tau}$ using a halo model. Within the halo model, all dark matter is placed in discrete *halos*, which we model as spherically-symmetric; the lowest-density regions of the dark matter field, which are outside of the halos, are modelled as having zero dark matter. Cosmological observables are simplistically modelled as depending only on the mass and redshift of the halo; this ignores several other real effects on the observables due to other factors such as the environment and merger history of the halo.

For a review of the halo model, see [95]. We perform all halo model calculations with class_sz [84, 85]; those references describe in detail the calculations we use. class_sz is based on the Boltzmann code class [96, 97].⁷ For completeness, we describe them briefly here (including listing our specific parameter and modelling choices, where relevant).

A.1 2-dimensional (angular) power spectra: $C_{\ell}^{g\tau}$ and 3-dimensional power spectrum $P_{ge}(k,z)$

In general, $C_{\ell}^{g\tau}$ comprises a 2-halo term quantifying inter-halo correlations (ie clustering) and a 1-halo term quantifying intra-halo correlations (which, as such, is sensitive to the radial profile of halos).

Within the Limber approximation, $C_\ell^{g\tau}$ is a weighted integral over redshift of the three-dimensional power spectrum

$$C_{\ell}^{g^{i}\tau} = \int \frac{d\chi}{\chi^{2}} W^{i}(\chi) W^{\tau}(\chi) \left(P_{ge}\left(k = \frac{\ell}{\chi}, z\right) \right), \tag{A.1}$$

where $W^i(\chi)$ is the galaxy window function, $W^{\tau}(\chi)$ is the electron window function, and $P_{ge}(k,z)$ is the three-dimensional electron-galaxy power spectrum. The galaxy window functions we use are

$$W^{i}(\chi) = \frac{\frac{dN^{i}}{d\chi}}{\int d\chi \frac{dN^{i}}{d\chi}}.$$
(A.2)

The electron window function is

$$W^{\tau}(\chi) = \frac{\sigma_T}{1+z} n_e(\chi), \tag{A.3}$$

where $n_e(\chi)$ is the average number density of electrons at χ

$$n_e(\chi) = \frac{\rho_e}{m_p \mu_e},\tag{A.4}$$

with ρ_e the electron density, m_p the mass of the proton, and $\mu_e \sim 1.14$ the mean molecular weight per electron (thus $m_p \mu_e$ is the mean molecular mass per electron). ρ_e is modelled as

$$\rho_e(\chi) = f_{\text{free}}\rho_b = f_{\text{free}}f_b\Omega_m(1+z)^3\rho_{\text{crit}} \tag{A.5}$$

where f_{free} is the fraction of free electrons (we assume $f_{\text{free}} = 1$) and $\rho_b = f_b \Omega_m (1+z)^3 \rho_{\text{crit}}$ is the mean baryon density at z, with $f_b = \frac{\Omega_b}{\Omega_m}$ the baryon fraction, and ρ_{crit} the critical density today.

⁷http://class-code.net.

The three-dimensional galaxy-electron power spectrum comprises the 2-halo and 1-halo information according to

$$P_{ge}(k,z) = P_{ge}^{2h}(k,z) + P_{ge}^{1h}(k,z)$$
(A.6)

where the 2-halo term is given by

$$P_{ge}^{2h}(k,z) = \left(\int dMb(M,z)\frac{dN}{dM}u_g(k,M,z)\right) \\ \times \left(\int dMb(M,z)\frac{dN}{dM}\frac{M}{\rho_m}u_e(k,M,z)\right)P_{\rm lin}(k,z)$$
(A.7)

where $P_{\text{lin}}(k, z)$ is the linear matter power spectrum, and the 1-halo term is given by

$$P_{ge}^{1h}(k,z) = \int dM \left(\frac{M}{\rho_m} u_e(k,M,z) u_g(k,M,z)\right).$$
 (A.8)

Above, M indicates halo mass, b(M, z) is the halo bias, and $\frac{dN}{dM}$ (which is also a function of (M, z)) is the halo mass function. $u_e(k, M, z)$ is the Fourier-transform of the spherically symmetric electron profile, and $u_g(k, M, z)$ is the Fourier-transform of the spherically symmetric galaxy profile.

We integrate over the mass range $0 < M < 5 \times 10^{15} h^{-1} M_{\odot}$. We use the halo mass function of [98] and the halo bias of [99], and the halo mass-concentration relation of [100]. The density profiles of the halos that we use are not calibrated at such low halo masses, and so following [101] we replace the contribution to the integral below $10^{10} M_{\odot}$ with counter-terms accounting for the low-mass contribution as explained in appendix B of [85].

A.2 Galaxy model

To model the galaxy distribution, we use a halo occupation distribution (HOD) model:

$$u_g(k, M, z) = \frac{N_c(M) + N_s(M)u(k, M, z)}{n_g},$$
(A.9)

where n_g is the mean galaxy number density, $N_c(M)$ is the expected number of central galaxies, $N_s(M)$ is the expected number of satellited galaxies, and the satellites are distributed according to u(k, M, z) which we take to be (the Fourier transform of) a Navarro-Frenk-White (NFW) profile [102]. The mean galaxy density n_g can be calculated by integrating over N_c and N_s :

$$n_g = \int dM \frac{dN}{dM} \left(N_c(M) + N_s(M) \right). \tag{A.10}$$

The mean numbers of centrals $N_c(M)$ and of satellites $N_s(M)$ take the forms

$$N_c(M) = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{\log M - \log M_{\min}^{\text{HOD}}}{\sigma_{\log M}}\right) \right),$$
(A.11)

$$N_s(M) = N_c(M) \left(\frac{M - M_0}{M_1'}\right)^{\alpha_s}.$$
 (A.12)

A similar HOD model has been previously fit to the DESI galaxies [103]. We choose parameters which are similar (although not exactly the same) as the best-fit parameters from this fit; we list them in table 2.

Parameter	Value
M_{\min}^{HOD}	$10^{14.08} h^{-1} M_{\odot}$
$\sigma_{\log M}$	0.27
M_0	$0.65 \times 10^{12.89} h^{-1} M_{\odot}$
α_s	1.2
M'_1	$10^{14.8} h^{-1} M_{\odot}$

Table 2. The parameters used in the HOD to describe the DESI galaxies.

A.3 Electron model

For the electrons, we use the "AGN-feedback" generalized NFW (gNFW) profiles of [104].

B Filters for the quadratic estimator

In this appendix we plot the filters that we use for the galaxy and temperature fields in the quadratic estimator.

The quadratic estimator for the velocity is

$$\hat{v}_{rLM}^{i} = N_{L}^{i} \left(\tilde{T}(\hat{n}) \zeta^{i}(\hat{n}) \right)_{LM}$$
(B.1)

where

$$\zeta_{lm}^i = C_\ell^{\tau g^i} \tilde{\delta^{g^i}}_{\ell m},\tag{B.2}$$

with the tilde indicating an inverse-variance filtered field

$$\tilde{X}_{\ell m} \equiv \frac{X_{\ell m}}{C_{\ell}^{XX}}.\tag{B.3}$$

The variance filter C_{ℓ}^{XX} includes all sources of signal and noise in X.

B.1 Temperature filter

The temperature filter C_{ℓ}^{TT} used to filter the temperature field $T(\hat{n})$ to create $\tilde{T}(\hat{n})$ is estimated directly from the temperature field by calculating the power spectrum using hp.anafast() on the region left unmasked by the ACT mask. This is shown in figure 14. We have checked that are results are insensitive to whether we bin and smooth the measured power spectra using large multipole bins, or we use the raw C_{ℓ} s.

B.2 Galaxy filters

We use four photometrically binned galaxy samples such that I = 1, 2, 3, 4. The galaxy filters used in each estimation to create $\zeta^i(\hat{n})$ are thus $\frac{C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}}{C_{\ell}^{g^i g^i}}$. Again, we estimate $C_{\ell}^{g^i g^i}$ by directly measuring the pseudo- C_{ℓ} s of the overdensity maps, on the region left unmasked by the DESI LRG masks. These are shown in figure 15.

Figure 14. The filter C_{ℓ}^{TT} by which the temperature field is inverse-variance filtered. This is measured directly from the pseudo- C_{ℓ} s of the field using healpy.anafast() (and dividing by the sky area $f_{\rm sky}$). We do not use any of the multiples at $\ell < 500$ (indicated by the gray region).

Figure 15. Measured galaxy auto power spectra for the DESI LRGs, estimated directly from the maps with healpy.anafast() (and division by f_{sky}). We also indicate the Poissonian shot noise level $\frac{1}{\bar{n}}$, where \bar{n} is the mean number density of the galaxies (recall that the samples are chosen such that each has an equal number of objects N = 2409741, so that this shot noise is equal for all bins). Additionally we indicate the measured auto power spectrum with this shot noise subtracted (although note that this quantity is never used and is only included here for illustrative purposes).

The $C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}$ are modelled with class_sz as described in appendix A. The models are shown in figure 16. The combined filters $\frac{C_{\ell}^{\tau g^i}}{C_{\ell}^{g^i g^i}}$ are then shown in figure 17. Again, we have checked that are results are insensitive to whether we bin and smooth the measured power spectra using large multipole bins, or we use the raw C_{ℓ} s.

Figure 16. Modelled galaxy-electron cross power spectra, modelled using class_sz as described in appendix A.

Figure 17. The harmonic filters used to filter the δ^{g^i} fields to create ζ^i , $\frac{C_{\ell}^{xg^i}}{C_{\ell}^{g^ig^i}}$.

B.3 Galaxy auto power spectra

To correctly account for the covariance between the measured $C_L^{v^i v^I}$ and $C_L^{v^i v^J}$ the covariance between the different galaxy samples $(i \neq j)$ must be included. In practice we do this by creating a covariance matrix using simulations that display the appropriate covariance. In particular, we draw Gaussian simulations with the correct covariance matrix $C_{\ell}^{g^i g^j}$. The auto spectra $C_{\ell}^{g^i g^i}$ were shown in figure 15; we show the cross power spectra in figure 18. These are similarly estimated by measuring the cross- pseudo C_{ℓ} s of the two maps δ^{g^i} and δ^{g^j} using healpy.anafast() and dividing by f_{sky} . Note that the cross-spectra are only non-zero for neighbouring bins, as expected given the small overlap of their redshift kernels.

Figure 18. The cross power spectra between the different galaxy bins. Note that for bins that are not neighbouring, the measurement is not significantly non-zero (as expected, given the low overlap between the redshift bins and the small scales involved — in the Limber approximation, a model would predict exactly zero correlation). In each plot, we also show the power spectra with an estimate of the shot noise subtracted (with the estimate calculated simply as $\frac{1}{2}$).

Figure 19. The measured autospectra of the velocity templates, along with the Λ CDM model predictions (solid) and the models rescaled by a normalization to empirically correct for the impact of Wiener filtering in generating the templates, such that they better describe the data.

C Velocity normalization

The continuity-equation velocities have been reconstructed from SDSS with a Wiener filter applied, and their normalization should be inferred using Monte-Carlo methods. Alternatively, we compare the power spectra of each of our templates to those expected from a Λ CDM calculation, and normalize by the appropriate amount to correct this. The measured power spectra are shown in figure 19.

The errorbars in figure 19 are Gaussian estimates of the covariance of C_L calculated with the Knox formula

$$\sigma(C_L^{vv}) = \frac{1}{2L+1} (C_L^{vv} + N_L^{vv}), \tag{C.1}$$

with the mask accounted for by deconvolution using pymaster. The measured power is used to estimate $C_L^{vv} + N_L^{vv}$ in this calculation. The rescaling factors we use are found by finding the best-fit A_v for these datapoints (separately for each redshift bin), using this covariance matrix to weight the datapoints.

D Reconstructed velocity maps

In the main text, we showed the reconstructed velocity maps filtered to preserve only the L < 20 information (figure 5). In this appendix, we show analogous plots for L < 10 and L < 50 information. These are presented in figures 20 and 21 respectively.

Figure 20. The reconstructed velocity, filtered to preserve only L < 10 information.

Figure 21. The reconstructed velocity, filtered to preserve only L < 50 information.

References

- Y.B. Zeldovich and R.A. Sunyaev, The Interaction of Matter and Radiation in a Hot-Model Universe, Astrophys. Space Sci. 4 (1969) 301 [INSPIRE].
- R.A. Sunyaev and Y.B. Zeldovich, Small-scale fluctuations of relic radiation, Astrophys. Space Sci. 7 (1970) 3 [INSPIRE].
- [3] R.A. Sunyaev and Y.B. Zeldovich, The velocity of clusters of galaxies relative to the microwave background. The possibility of its measurement, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 190 (1980) 413
 [INSPIRE].
- [4] A. Lewis and A. Challinor, Weak gravitational lensing of the CMB, Phys. Rept. 429 (2006) 1 [astro-ph/0601594] [INSPIRE].
- [5] K.M. Smith, O. Zahn and O. Doré, Detection of Gravitational Lensing in the Cosmic Microwave Background, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 043510 [arXiv:0705.3980] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J.M. Fowler et al., Optical Design of the Atacama Cosmology Telescope and the Millimeter Bolometric Array Camera, Appl. Opt. 46 (2007) 3444 [astro-ph/0701020] [INSPIRE].
- S.W. Henderson et al., Advanced ACTPol Cryogenic Detector Arrays and Readout, J. Low Temp. Phys. 184 (2016) 772 [arXiv:1510.02809] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J.E. Carlstrom et al., The 10 Meter South Pole Telescope, Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac. 123 (2011) 568 [arXiv:0907.4445] [INSPIRE].
- [9] SPT-3G collaboration, SPT-3G: A Next-Generation Cosmic Microwave Background Polarization Experiment on the South Pole Telescope, Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 9153 (2014) 91531P [arXiv:1407.2973] [INSPIRE].
- [10] SIMONS OBSERVATORY collaboration, The Simons Observatory: Science goals and forecasts, JCAP 02 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1808.07445] [INSPIRE].
- [11] CMB-S4 collaboration, CMB-S4 Science Book, First Edition, arXiv:1610.02743 [INSPIRE].
- PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2013 results. XXI. Power spectrum and high-order statistics of the Planck all-sky Compton parameter map, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A21
 [arXiv:1303.5081] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.C. Hill and D.N. Spergel, Detection of thermal SZ-CMB lensing cross-correlation in Planck nominal mission data, JCAP 02 (2014) 030 [arXiv:1312.4525] [INSPIRE].
- [14] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XXII. A map of the thermal Sunyaev-Zeldovich effect, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A22 [arXiv:1502.01596] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M.S. Madhavacheril et al., Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Component-separated maps of CMB temperature and the thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 023534
 [arXiv:1911.05717] [INSPIRE].
- [16] SPT-SZ collaboration, CMB/kSZ and Compton-y Maps from 2500 deg² of SPT-SZ and Planck Survey Data, Astrophys. J. Supp. 258 (2022) 36 [arXiv:2102.05033] [INSPIRE].
- [17] H. Tanimura, M. Douspis, N. Aghanim and L. Salvati, Constraining cosmology with a new all-sky Compton parameter map from the Planck PR4 data, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 509 (2021) 300 [arXiv:2110.08880] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Chandran, M. Remazeilles and R.B. Barreiro, An improved Compton parameter map of thermal Sunyaev-Zeldovich effect from Planck PR4 data, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 526 (2023) 5682 [arXiv:2305.10193] [INSPIRE].

- [19] F. McCarthy and J.C. Hill, Component-separated, CIB-cleaned thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich maps from Planck PR4 data with a flexible public needlet ILC pipeline, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 023528 [arXiv:2307.01043] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Birkinshaw, S.F. Gull and K.J.E. Northover, Extent of hot intergalactic gas in the cluster Abell 2218, Nature 275 (1978) 40.
- [21] M. Birkinshaw, S.F. Gull and K.J.E. Northover, Measurements of the gas contents of clusters of galaxies by observations of the background radiation at 10.6 GHz, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 185 (1978) 245.
- [22] M. Birkinshaw, S.F. Gull and K.J.E. Northover, Measurements of the gas contents of clusters of galaxies by observations of the background radiation at 10.6 GHz. II, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 197 (1981) 571.
- [23] G. Hurier, R. Adam and U. Keshet, First detection of a virial shock with SZ data: implication for the mass accretion rate of Abell 2319, Astron. Astrophys. 622 (2019) A136 [arXiv:1712.05762] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Amodeo et al., Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Modeling the gas thermodynamics in BOSS CMASS galaxies from kinematic and thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich measurements, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 063514 [Erratum ibid. 107 (2023) 063514] [arXiv:2009.05558] [INSPIRE].
- [25] E.M. Vavagiakis et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Probing the baryon content of SDSS DR15 galaxies with the thermal and kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effects, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 043503 [arXiv:2101.08373] [INSPIRE].
- [26] DES and ACT collaborations, Cross-correlation of Dark Energy Survey Year 3 lensing data with ACT and Planck thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect observations. I. Measurements, systematics tests, and feedback model constraints, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 123525 [arXiv:2108.01600] [INSPIRE].
- [27] DES and ACT collaborations, Cross-correlation of Dark Energy Survey Year 3 lensing data with ACT and Planck thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect observations. II. Modeling and constraints on halo pressure profiles, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 123526 [arXiv:2108.01601]
 [INSPIRE].
- [28] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XXIV. Cosmology from Sunyaev-Zeldovich cluster counts, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A24 [arXiv:1502.01597] [INSPIRE].
- [29] I. Zubeldia and A. Challinor, Cosmological constraints from Planck galaxy clusters with CMB lensing mass bias calibration, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 489 (2019) 401 [arXiv:1904.07887]
 [INSPIRE].
- [30] L. Salvati et al., Combining Planck and SPT Cluster Catalogs: Cosmological Analysis and Impact on the Planck Scaling Relation Calibration, Astrophys. J. 934 (2022) 129 [arXiv:2112.03606] [INSPIRE].
- [31] SPT and DES collaborations, SPT clusters with DES and HST weak lensing. II. Cosmological constraints from the abundance of massive halos, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 083510
 [arXiv:2401.02075] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.E. Carlstrom, G.P. Holder and E.D. Reese, Cosmology with the Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 40 (2002) 643 [astro-ph/0208192] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Mroczkowski et al., Astrophysics with the Spatially and Spectrally Resolved Sunyaev-Zeldovich Effects. A Millimetre/Submillimetre Probe of the Warm and Hot Universe, Space Sci. Rev. 215 (2019) 17 [arXiv:1811.02310] [INSPIRE].

- [34] N. Hand et al., Evidence of Galaxy Cluster Motions with the Kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 041101 [arXiv:1203.4219] [INSPIRE].
- [35] PLANCK collaboration, Planck intermediate results. XI. The gas content of dark matter halos: the Sunyaev-Zeldovich-stellar mass relation for locally brightest galaxies, Astron. Astrophys. 557 (2013) A52 [arXiv:1212.4131] [INSPIRE].
- [36] ACTPOL collaboration, Evidence for the kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect with the Atacama Cosmology Telescope and velocity reconstruction from the Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 082002 [arXiv:1510.06442] [INSPIRE].
- [37] DES and SPT collaborations, Detection of the kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect with DES Year 1 and SPT, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 461 (2016) 3172 [arXiv:1603.03904] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J.C. Hill et al., Kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Effect with Projected Fields: A Novel Probe of the Baryon Distribution with Planck, WMAP, and WISE Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 051301 [arXiv:1603.01608] [INSPIRE].
- [39] ATACAMA COSMOLOGY TELESCOPE collaboration, Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Combined kinematic and thermal Sunyaev-Zel'dovich measurements from BOSS CMASS and LOWZ halos, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 063513 [arXiv:2009.05557] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Kusiak et al., Constraining the baryon abundance with the kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect: Projected-field detection using Planck, WMAP, and unWISE, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 043518 [arXiv:2102.01068] [INSPIRE].
- [41] H. Tanimura, S. Zaroubi and N. Aghanim, Direct detection of the kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect in galaxy clusters, Astron. Astrophys. 645 (2021) A112 [arXiv:2007.02952] [INSPIRE].
- [42] V. Calafut et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Detection of the pairwise kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect with SDSS DR15 galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 043502
 [arXiv:2101.08374] [INSPIRE].
- [43] B. Hadzhiyska et al., Evidence for large baryonic feedback at low and intermediate redshifts from kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich observations with ACT and DESI photometric galaxies, arXiv:2407.07152 [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Ho, S. Dedeo and D. Spergel, Finding the Missing Baryons Using CMB as a Backlight, arXiv:0903.2845 [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Munshi, I.T. Iliev, K.L. Dixon and P. Coles, Extracting the late-time kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 463 (2016) 2425 [arXiv:1511.03449]
 [INSPIRE].
- [46] P. Zhang, The dark flow induced small scale kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich effect, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 407 (2010) L36 [arXiv:1004.0990] [INSPIRE].
- [47] J. Shao et al., The kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich tomography with spectroscopic redshift surveys, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 413 (2011) 628 [arXiv:1004.1301] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Terrana, M.-J. Harris and M.C. Johnson, Analyzing the cosmic variance limit of remote dipole measurements of the cosmic microwave background using the large-scale kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich effect, JCAP 02 (2017) 040 [arXiv:1610.06919] [INSPIRE].
- [49] A.-S. Deutsch et al., Reconstruction of the remote dipole and quadrupole fields from the kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich and polarized Sunyaev Zel'dovich effects, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 123501
 [arXiv:1707.08129] [INSPIRE].
- [50] K.M. Smith et al., KSZ tomography and the bispectrum, arXiv:1810.13423 [INSPIRE].

- [51] P. Zhang and M.C. Johnson, Testing eternal inflation with the kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich effect, JCAP 06 (2015) 046 [arXiv:1501.00511] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Münchmeyer et al., Constraining local non-Gaussianities with kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich tomography, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 083508 [arXiv:1810.13424] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D. Contreras, M.C. Johnson and J.B. Mertens, Towards detection of relativistic effects in galaxy number counts using kSZ Tomography, JCAP 10 (2019) 024 [arXiv:1904.10033] [INSPIRE].
- [54] Z. Pan and M.C. Johnson, Forecasted constraints on modified gravity from Sunyaev-Zel'dovich tomography, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 083522 [arXiv:1906.04208] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.I. Cayuso and M.C. Johnson, Towards testing CMB anomalies using the kinetic and polarized Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effects, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 123508 [arXiv:1904.10981] [INSPIRE].
- [56] N.A. Kumar, S.C. Hotinli and M. Kamionkowski, Uncorrelated compensated isocurvature perturbations from kinetic Sunyaev-Zeldovich tomography, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 043504 [arXiv:2208.02829] [INSPIRE].
- [57] W.R. Coulton, K. Akitsu and M. Takada, Constraining cosmological vorticity modes with CMB secondary anisotropies, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 123528 [arXiv:2301.11344] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J.I. Cayuso, M.C. Johnson and J.B. Mertens, Simulated reconstruction of the remote dipole field using the kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich effect, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 063502
 [arXiv:1806.01290] [INSPIRE].
- [59] U. Giri and K.M. Smith, Exploring KSZ velocity reconstruction with N-body simulations and the halo model, JCAP 09 (2022) 028 [arXiv:2010.07193] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Cayuso et al., Velocity reconstruction with the cosmic microwave background and galaxy surveys, JCAP 02 (2023) 051 [arXiv:2111.11526] [INSPIRE].
- [61] R. Bloch and M.C. Johnson, *Kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich velocity reconstruction from Planck* and unWISE, arXiv:2405.00809 [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Krolewski, S. Ferraro, E.F. Schlafly and M. White, unWISE tomography of Planck CMB lensing, JCAP 05 (2020) 047 [arXiv:1909.07412] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Krolewski, S. Ferraro and M. White, Cosmological constraints from unWISE and Planck CMB lensing tomography, JCAP 12 (2021) 028 [arXiv:2105.03421] [INSPIRE].
- [64] ACT collaboration, Atacama Cosmology Telescope: High-resolution component-separated maps across one third of the sky, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 063530 [arXiv:2307.01258] [INSPIRE].
- [65] R. Zhou et al., DESI luminous red galaxy samples for cross-correlations, JCAP 11 (2023) 097 [arXiv:2309.06443] [INSPIRE].
- [66] LSST SCIENCE and LSST PROJECT collaborations, LSST Science Book, Version 2.0, arXiv:0912.0201 [INSPIRE].
- [67] EUCLID THEORY WORKING GROUP collaboration, Cosmology and fundamental physics with the Euclid satellite, Living Rev. Rel. 16 (2013) 6 [arXiv:1206.1225] [INSPIRE].
- [68] SPHEREX collaboration, Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, arXiv:1412.4872 [INSPIRE].
- [69] DESI collaboration, The DESI Experiment Part I: Science, Targeting, and Survey Design, arXiv:1611.00036 [INSPIRE].

- [70] A. Laguë et al., Constraints on Local Primordial Non-Gaussianity with 3D Velocity Reconstruction from the Kinetic Sunyaev-Zeldovich Effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. 134 (2025) 151003
 [arXiv:2411.08240] [INSPIRE].
- [71] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [72] DESI collaboration, Overview of the DESI Legacy Imaging Surveys, Astron. J. 157 (2019) 168
 [arXiv:1804.08657] [INSPIRE].
- [73] J. Delabrouille et al., A full sky, low foreground, high resolution CMB map from WMAP, Astron. Astrophys. 493 (2009) 835 [arXiv:0807.0773] [INSPIRE].
- [74] PLANCK collaboration, Planck intermediate results. LVII. Joint Planck LFI and HFI data processing, Astron. Astrophys. 643 (2020) A42 [arXiv:2007.04997] [INSPIRE].
- [75] DESI collaboration, Target Selection and Validation of DESI Luminous Red Galaxies, Astron. J. 165 (2023) 58 [arXiv:2208.08515] [INSPIRE].
- [76] J. Kim et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope DR6 and DESI: structure formation over cosmic time with a measurement of the cross-correlation of CMB lensing and luminous red galaxies, JCAP 12 (2024) 022 [arXiv:2407.04606] [INSPIRE].
- [77] N. Sailer et al., Cosmological constraints from the cross-correlation of DESI Luminous Red Galaxies with CMB lensing from Planck PR4 and ACT DR6, arXiv:2407.04607 [INSPIRE].
- [78] BOSS collaboration, The Tenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Survey: First Spectroscopic Data from the SDSS-III Apache Point Observatory Galactic Evolution Experiment, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 211 (2014) 17 [arXiv:1307.7735] [INSPIRE].
- [79] T. Okamoto and W. Hu, Cosmic microwave background lensing reconstruction on the full sky, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 083002 [astro-ph/0301031] [INSPIRE].
- [80] F. McCarthy and M.C. Johnson, Remote dipole field reconstruction with dusty galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 043520 [arXiv:1907.06678] [INSPIRE].
- [81] LSST DARK ENERGY SCIENCE collaboration, A unified pseudo-C_ℓ framework, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 484 (2019) 4127 [arXiv:1809.09603] [INSPIRE].
- [82] E. Hivon et al., Master of the cosmic microwave background anisotropy power spectrum: a fast method for statistical analysis of large and complex cosmic microwave background data sets, Astrophys. J. 567 (2002) 2 [astro-ph/0105302] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Tegmark and A. de Oliveira-Costa, How to measure CMB polarization power spectra without losing information, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 063001 [astro-ph/0012120] [INSPIRE].
- [84] B. Bolliet et al., class_sz I: Overview, EPJ Web Conf. 293 (2024) 00008 [arXiv:2310.18482] [INSPIRE].
- [85] B. Bolliet et al., Projected-field kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Cross-correlations: halo model and forecasts, JCAP 03 (2023) 039 [arXiv:2208.07847] [INSPIRE].
- [86] D.N. Limber, The Analysis of Counts of the Extragalactic Nebulae in Terms of a Fluctuating Density Field, Astrophys. J. 117 (1953) 134.
- [87] X. Fang, E. Krause, T. Eifler and N. MacCrann, Beyond Limber: Efficient computation of angular power spectra for galaxy clustering and weak lensing, JCAP 05 (2020) 010 [arXiv:1911.11947] [INSPIRE].

- [88] B.R. Guachalla, E. Schaan, B. Hadzhiyska and S. Ferraro, Velocity reconstruction in the era of DESI and Rubin/LSST. I. Exploring spectroscopic, photometric, and hybrid samples, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 103533 [arXiv:2312.12435] [INSPIRE].
- [89] B. Hadzhiyska, S. Ferraro, B.R. Guachalla and E. Schaan, Velocity reconstruction in the era of DESI and Rubin/LSST. II. Realistic samples on the light cone, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 103534 [arXiv:2312.12434] [INSPIRE].
- [90] J. Krywonos, S.C. Hotinli and M.C. Johnson, Constraints on cosmology beyond ΛCDM with kinetic Sunyaev Zel'dovich velocity reconstruction, arXiv:2408.05264 [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Rezaie et al., Local primordial non-Gaussianity from the large-scale clustering of photometric DESI luminous red galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 532 (2024) 1902 [arXiv:2307.01753] [INSPIRE].
- U. Seljak, Extracting primordial non-gaussianity without cosmic variance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 021302 [arXiv:0807.1770] [INSPIRE].
- [93] K.M. Górski et al., HEALPix: A Framework for High-Resolution Discretization and Fast Analysis of Data Distributed on the Sphere, Astrophys. J. 622 (2005) 759 [astro-ph/0409513]
 [INSPIRE].
- [94] A. Zonca et al., healpy: equal area pixelization and spherical harmonics transforms for data on the sphere in Python, J. Open Source Softw. 4 (2019) 1298 [INSPIRE].
- [95] A. Cooray and R.K. Sheth, Halo Models of Large Scale Structure, Phys. Rept. 372 (2002) 1 [astro-ph/0206508] [INSPIRE].
- [96] J. Lesgourgues, The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS) I: Overview, arXiv:1104.2932 [INSPIRE].
- [97] D. Blas, J. Lesgourgues and T. Tram, The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS). Part II: Approximation schemes, JCAP 07 (2011) 034 [arXiv:1104.2933] [INSPIRE].
- [98] J.L. Tinker et al., Toward a halo mass function for precision cosmology: The limits of universality, Astrophys. J. 688 (2008) 709 [arXiv:0803.2706] [INSPIRE].
- [99] J.L. Tinker et al., The Large-scale Bias of Dark Matter Halos: Numerical Calibration and Model Tests, Astrophys. J. 724 (2010) 878 [arXiv:1001.3162] [INSPIRE].
- [100] S. Bhattacharya, S. Habib, K. Heitmann and A. Vikhlinin, Dark Matter Halo Profiles of Massive Clusters: Theory versus Observations, Astrophys. J. 766 (2013) 32 [arXiv:1112.5479]
 [INSPIRE].
- [101] F. Schmidt, Towards a self-consistent halo model for the nonlinear large-scale structure, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 063512 [arXiv:1511.02231] [INSPIRE].
- [102] J.F. Navarro, C.S. Frenk and S.D.M. White, A universal density profile from hierarchical clustering, Astrophys. J. 490 (1997) 493 [astro-ph/9611107] [INSPIRE].
- [103] S. Yuan et al., The DESI one-per cent survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution of luminous red galaxies and quasi-stellar objects with ABACUSSUMMIT, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 530 (2024) 947 [arXiv:2306.06314] [INSPIRE].
- [104] N. Battaglia, The tau of galaxy clusters, JCAP 08 (2016) 058 [arXiv:1607.02442] [INSPIRE].